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A HISTORY OF
THE COUNTY OF GREY

Part I.—The Forest Days of the County

A GLIMPSE OF LONG AGO

In the beginning, even before the days of the red
men, the picturesque bit of the Western Hemisphere that
is now the County of Grey was one stretch of magnificent
forest. The elms and maples that delighted the eyes of
the earliest explorers covered the hills and valleys, and
along the shore the whispering cedars, pine, and spruce
met the blue waters of the Georgian Bay. Many species
of trees and plants, wild flowers and ferns, that are found
to the north and south, grew in the limits of this delightful
area. Situated between the flora of the northern part
of Canada and that of the southern, no spot in the Province
had a finer variety of plant life. Fortunate also is this
part of Ontario in its beautiful shore-line. Enticing bays
and capes and shadowy wooded points add beauty all along
the water-front.

Near the southern part of the shore, the immense
ridge that extends from Lake Ontario to the Georgian
Bay almost meets the water’s edge in a point that has
been a land-mark to both Indian and white man. Beyond
the point strefches the winding valley through which
flows one of the broad rivers that drain this part of
Ontario. Beyond the valley is the western part of the
mountain-like ridge where the red men watched the sun
go down., The vivid colouring of the Georgian Bay gives
to the “Mountains” a name descriptive of their hazy
blueness.

—_1—



CHAPTER IV
. 'THE INDIAN GREETS THE WHITE MAN

Our country owes a debt to the early Indian. It is
a debt that can never be repaid. Without the friend-
ship and the help of the Indian, exploration and settle-
ment would have been many years delayed; and without
the aid that the Indians have given in time of need, want
and tragedy would have come to mapy of the homes of
the settlers.

In all the records of Indian dealings with the white
man in Grey not one shows any unfriendly attitude, un-
less they saw that injustice had first been done to them.
Even when the Indians felt that they were used un-
fairly by the treaties that disposed of their lands and
moved them farther from the homes of their fathers,
there were no warlike preparations.

The Indians listened reverently to the early mission-
aries, though their own religion was sacred to them. It
is probable that after Champlain’s journey into the re-
gion of the Blue Hills and the Beaver Valley, the Jesuit
missionaries were the first white men to enter the County.

There is some evidence that one of the missions
established by the Jesuits before the Iroquois wars was
situated in the Petun village on the tableland above
Craigleith. Many historians believe that on the mountain
close to the “Rock-that-stands-out” was the Mission of
St. Mathias, where Father Garnier laboured before the
Petuns and Hurons were driven out by the Iroquois.

At a later date, though before the white men came to
settle in the County, a French trading post was situated
about the spot where Leith is now. Though the Indians
might easily have surrounded the little post and captured
the coveted goods it contained, they did nothing of the sort.
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Part II—Barly History of the Townships,
Villages and Towns

CHAPTER VI

THE TOWNSHIP OF COLLINGWOOD, ITS VILLAGES
AND THORNBURY

The earliest surveyor’s map of what is now the County
of Grey gave to the north eastern township of the County
the name Alta. This name was chosen for the Township
because of the high land within its bounds. But it was
a name that had no homelike touch. It emphasized the
mountains too strongly. It had a cold far-away sound
that gave no idea of the beautiful fertile valley of the
Beaver River or the splendid land on the heights.

Fortunately the name was used but a short time.
Early in the history of the township, Captain Morberly, a
retired naval officer, drew a grant of land within “Alta,”
and, disliking the name, appealed to the Lieutenant Gov-
ernor to change it. At this period the names of naval
heroes and military generals were popular in Canada, and
the Township was given the name of Collingwood, after
Admiral Collingwood.

Collingwood was the first Township of the County of
Grey laid out by a surveyor. It is probable, however, that
exploring parties had reached the shore of this Township
years before the surveying of this beautiful bit of for-
est was ever dreamed of. The point of the “Blue Hills,”
the Lookout Point of the Indian, visible a long distance
in clear weather, would have aftracted the adventurous

explorers.
There is one story of the days of 1812-14, when a
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CHAPTER XII

HOW OWEN SOUND BEGAN

The City of Owen Sound which in early days was the
village of Sydenham dates from the year 1840. In that
year Mr. John Telfer was appointed under Lord Syden-
ham, then Governor General, land agent for the locality
and arrived by way of St. Vincent, whither he had come
by batteau from Coldwater.

A small portion of the town plot, as well as the orig-
inal line of the Garafraxa Road leading south to the set-
tlements of the Wellington District, had been surveyed in
1837 by Charles Rankin. Surveying then had been discon-
tinued. This year, however, Mr. Rankin and his party who
had resumed work on the Garafraxa Road had again been
ordered to Owen Sound to meet the land agent there. On
his arrival he camped at the river edge at the foot of what
wag later Union Street.

At this time the site of Owen Sound had a very for-
bidding aspect. Tangled cedar, hemlock and balsam cov-
ered the whole flat. The river was choked with decay-
ing logs. The trees leaned across the stream and met
overhead, almost shutting out the light of day, and near
the mouth of the river was a marsh on either side alive
with frogs and mosquitoes.

Mr. Telfer was well fitted to grapple with the diffi-
culties of a land agent in so new a country. Already he
had had much experience in new lands. He had come from
Scotland to Lord Selkirk’s Red River colony about the
year 1818 and for a short time was connected with the
Hudson’s Bay Company. Then, together with another
young Scotchman, he had made his way to a portage about
forty miles west of Fort William. There they traded their
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CHAPTER XXIII
THE TOWNSHIP OF SARAWAK AND ITS VILLAGES

When in 1855 the Indian Peninsula was taken over
from the Indians, what is now the Township of Sarawak
remained a reserve. It was known as the Newash Re-
serve, named for Chief Newash who lived where Brooke
now stands. He was the third generation of chiefs living
in that spot. But the picturesque reserve under its worthy
Chief was of short duration.

The white men’s records tell us that the Indians be-
came dissatisfied, and wished to remove to Cape Croker.
The Indians themselves might tell a different story. ... .
Sarawak contained some rich land accessibly situated for
it bordered upon the growing town of Owen Sound. So
desirable was it that white men had already settled there.
The names of the first pioneers were Ormiston, McNaught,
Monck, Huston, and Joseph Lundy of the Lundys of Lun-
dy’s Lane, and Gerolamy. These went into the township be-
fore the treaty by which the Indians surrendered the re-
serve came into effect, and were allowed to settle there
unmolested by the Indians. But the Indian was ever
generous! One wonders in how many white men’s town-
ships Indians would have been allowed to settle down
permanently on broad acres of choice land!

In all probability the Indians were induced to move
by enticing white men who held out before their child-
like minds visions of the luxuries which the pittance they
were to receive for their lands would bring them. '

However this may have been, by the year 1857 In-
dians of Newash gave up their lands. Lord Bury, the
Governor-General of Canada, discarded the appropriate
Indian name so rich in significance. Preferring to honour
his own secretary Sir James Brooke, he called the town-
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A HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF GREY

The Church of England

The first missionary work of the Church of England in
Grey began in the year 1843 when the Rev. Alfonso William
Henry Rose came to Canada through the Church Mission-
ary Society of England. At Toronto Bishop Strachan com-
missioned him to the village of Sydenham. Just where
his services were held we have no record but apparently
no attempt was made as yet to build a church. How-
ever, it is recorded that he had a very fair congrega-
tion from among the four hundred inhabitants of Syden-
ham at that time. His stay was short. He was in deli-
cate health and not physically able to stand the exposure
of his work in that new country. Compelled to resign in
two years, he returned to Toronto, settled his affairs and
died soon after. During his residence in Grey he had
purchased three lots on what was then called Hill Street,
the property where the present St. George’s Church stands,
and which, it was afterwards learned, was bequeathed by
him to the Church of England in Sydenham.

Mr. Rose also purchased some farm land in Derby and
a schooner, the “Fannie.”” For what purpose he wished
the schooner was unknown, but it was probably to cruise
on the upper lakes or about the islands where he could
"reach the distant Indian camps.

For some time after the departure of Mr. Rose no-
thing more was heard of his affairs. About three years
elapsed before another Church of England missionary was
sent to Grey. Then in the year 1849 there came to the
County one of the most prominent and interesting char-
acters in the history of the Church in Grey, Arthur Hill
Rigland Mulholland, a graduate of Trinity College, Dublin,
Ireland. He had been given his choice of going to Aus-
tralia or coming to Canada, by the Church of England
Missionary Society, and had chosen Canada. In Canada

. he was commissioned by Bishop Strachan to the village
of Sydenham, and his work was to cover the Counties
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A HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF GREY

very log he himself was sitting upon the man he was search-
ing for, fast asleep.

A story from another part of the County is of a
settler’s wife who blew a horn in the evening to guide
her husband home from another clearing where he was
working. One night when she had been blowing the horn
longer than usual, a stranger who had recently arrived in
that part of the “Queen’s Bush,” came out of the forest,
hurrying towards her. He had been lost since the day be-
fore and hearing her horn had followed the sound, hoping
and praying that she would not stop blowing it until he
had been guided to her clearing.

A Pioneer Woman in Osprey

When, years ago, the “Farmer’s Advocate” offered a
prize for the best essay on pioneer life, the prize was won
by a native of Grey, who described the experiences of her
mother and father (Mr. and Mrs. John Weldrick) who
were among the first to make a clearing in the forest
of Osprey Township. Her father with another man went
first, cut down a few trees, and then returned. Of her
* mother’s going ‘she says, “The next winter father bought
a yoke of oxen, one cow, a sleigh, a one-inch and a two-
inch auger, two axes, and what household goods the oxen
could draw. With my mother and a baby girl, they started
again for the wilderness. The journey took three days.
They stayed at Barrie and Stayner. From the latter point
there was only the blaze to go by, and the sleigh upset
gix times, throwing them into the snow. Mother often
told us how thankful she was when father said, ‘Yonder
is the shanty!” He soon made a roaring fire, carried in
their two boxes for a table, and the ox yoke for a seat.
Thus The first white woman, as far as we know, ate her
first supper in Osprey.

Father then cut down some browse for the cattle, tied
them to the sleigh at the door, and started to make a
bedstead by boring holes in the logs, using a crotch stick for

—099—
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landing where a number of zealous Orangemen were wait-
ing to escort me to the place of meeting, forming in pro-
cession to escort me back at the close, the steamer re-
maining at the dock during the ceremony. After open-
ing the Lodge, I proceeded to Prince Arthur’s Landing,
Lake Superior, where although no Lodge has as yet been
formed I found a number of our brethren still retaining
in that far-off country, a warm feeling for our loyal in-
stitution, and determined during the coming season to
place a branch of the old Orange tree in that rapidly de-
veloping section of our Dominion.”

The Lodges on the Manitoulin Island and on the North
shore as well as the Northern parts of Bruce County were
attached to the County Lodge of North Grey until those
jurisdictions became sufficiently well organized to support
County Lodges. ’

North Grey was divided in 1906 and is known as North
Grey and West Grey; South Grey was subdivided in 1887
and is known as South Grey and East Grey for Orange
purposes.

Among the many public spirited men who have given
signal service to the association may be mentioned the Rev.
Rural Dean A. H. R. Mulholland, who became M. W. Grand
Chaplain of the Grand Lodge of British America in 1866;
Rev. H. A. Fish, who also became M. W. Grand Chaplain
of the Grand Lodge of British America in 1911; the Hon.
Dr. T. S. Sproule, M.P., who became Most Worshipful
Grand Master and Sovereign of British America in 1901.
To use. his own words, he gave the best that was in him
for the next ten years for the advancement of the as- |
sociation. Hon. Dr. Sproule also enjoyed the privilege of
being elected in 1906 to the Imperial Grand Presidency of
the Triennial Council of the Orangemen of the world.

The writer of this article is greatly indebted to the
veteran County Secretary of North Grey, Bro. William
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Later the Company was moved to Cobourg, where it was
billeted until June 21st, when orders were received to re-
turn home.

On September 14th, 1866, a little less than a year be-
fore Confederation, the scattered companies from the Coun-
ty of Grey were organized into the 81st Grey Battalion of
Infantry. The following extract from the Militia List of
1866-67, gives the list of companies and officers composing
the battalion:

Lieutenant Colonel, W. D. Pollard; Majors, James Can-
non, and John Creasor; No. 1 Company, Owen Sound, Cap-
tain George McL. Butchart, Lieutenant Alfred B. Spencer;
No. 2 Company, Meaford, Captain William H. Taylor, Lieu-
tenant John W. Layton ; Ensign John G. McGee; No. 3 Com-
pany, Leith, Captain James P. Telford, and Lieutenant Ro-
bert Vanwyck; No. 4 Company, Durham, Captain W. M.
Anderson, Lieutenant John MeCulloch ; Ensign John Moodie;
No. 5 Company, Owen Sound, Captain John Boyd, Lieuten-
ant George Spencer, Ensign W. B. Stephens; No. 6 Com-
pany, Flesherton, Captain William K. Flesher, Lieutenant
M. K. Richardson, Ensign Richard Campbell, Jr.; Regi-
mental Staff: Paymaster Thomas Gordon, Adjutant George
Brodie, Quartermaster John W. Layton, Surgeon David Ry-
erson MacLean, and Assistant Surgeon Charles E. Barn-
hart.

The celebration of Dominion Day, July 1st, 1867 — the
first Dominion Day — was the occasion of the presenta-
tion of the Regimental and Queen’s colours, the presenta-
tion being made by Mrs. Pollard, wife of the Colonel of the
Regiment at its inception.

The Regiment was under the efficient command of Col.
William D. Pollard, with Major George Brodie as Adju-
tant, from the time it was gazetted up to the 10th of Sep-
tember, 1872. On Col. Pollard’s retirement, the command
was taken over by Col. Brodie. This position he held up
to the 10th November, 1894. While many regiments
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APPENDICES

APPENDIX A ¢

ALPHABETICAL DIRECTORY OF THE COUNTY OF
GREY IN 1865, WHICH IS REPRODUCED FROM
THE GAZETTER OF THE COUNTY PUBLISHED
BY W. W. SMITH OF OWEN SOUND IN 1865,

THE TOWNSHIP OF ARTEMESIA

South of Durham Road

Black, Gabriel
Campbell, Donald
Currie, Dugald
Currle, Willlam
Cameron,

Cameron, Ach’d
Elliot, Wm. .
Ferguson, Wm

French, Henry .
Gordon, Mrs,
Gillies, James .
Grantham, John
Henderson, David
Howard, Mrs, ..
Henderson, Mrs.

Handy, James
Huddy, George
Harrison, George
Lee, Wm. B. .
Lockle, Thomas
Millar, John M.
Moore, Charles
Moore, Thomas
Milton, Richard
McIntosh, Alex ..
McDonald Maleolm
McDonald, Neil
McLean,
McLean, Alex. ..
McLean, Arch’d

McLean,
McLean,
McLean, Neil

McMillan, Malcolm

McArthur, Arch'd 3 8
McDougall, James 2 12
McDougall, Colin . 2 23
McDougall, Ronald 2 24
McInnis, Donald 2 17
McCulloch, F. 2 8
Neldor, John 2 30
Oliver, Wm., 1 27
Smith, John 2 19
Shakelford, W. . 1 33
Simons, Charles 1 7
Waters, Mrs. ... 1 17
Waters, Richard 1 18
Waters, Wm. ... 1 19
Wilson, A. W. 1 75
Willlamson, Matthew ... 3 3
North of Durham Road

Con. Lot

Aussem, Joseph .1 8
Andrews, John .1 28
Akitt, Thomas . 6 35
Akitt, Michael .7 31
Atwell, James LT 30
Armstrong, Wm. 11 29
Badgers, Samuel . 4 33
Boyce, David .5 30
Boyce, James .. . 5 31
Butler, Patrick . T 4
Betts, Wm_ ... .7 28
Beacroft, John . 8 25
Benson, James . 9 37
Buchanan, Wm. .10 21
Bryan, John .. .10 36
Border, George .10 37
Boland, James .12 15
Bule, Wm. .. .3 3
Bowler, Wm. 13 13
Blain, John 4 21
ft, John .14 33




' APPENDIX B
THOSE WHO SERVED IN THE GREAT WAR

A list of those from the County of Grey who served.
in the Great War from 1914 to 1918 has been compiled by
Col. T. J. Rutherford, from official sources and other infor-
mation available. They are listed in contingents, and a
further list is of those from the County who enlisted else-
where, The names of those who made the supreme sacri-
fice are shown in black type. Only the name of the soldier
and the municipality from which he enlisted is shown, and
wherever possible the unit with which he went overseas.
It is not claimed that every name is included in this list,
but every means had been taken to make it as complete as

possible.

First Contingent

Geo. H. Musgrove, Hanover
H. E. Pembroke, Meaford.
Ww. D M. Smith, Meaford.
‘W. P. Malone, Owen Sound,
John A. Thompson, Owen Sound,
T. Cavanagh, Markdale.

Harry Walsh, Meaford
Alfred Raper, Meaford,
Wm. Butler, Hanover, .
Sam Smith, Owen Sound.
George Austin, Meaford,
Charles Fortnam Hanover,
meke Alek, Owen Sound.
George Allan, Owen Sound.
Wellington Allan, Owen Sound.
C. H. Best, Owen Sound.
Joseph Crane, Owen Sound.
Alfred Barkey, Berkeley
Albert Comber, Berkeley
andrew Coventry, Thornbury.
Fred Durant, Meaford.

E. W. Drane.

Wiiliam James Dennett.

W. C. Easson, Owen SBound.
John Ford, Meaford.

Gordon Foster, Holland Centre.
Thos. QGallamore, Markdale.
A. K. Harrls, Meaford.

W. G. Hill, Owen Sound.
Jame Holmes, Markdale.
Herbert Horsefield, Thornbury.
Thos. Hart, Owen Sound.

Arno Jucksch, Meaford.
Stanley P. James, Hanover.
M. 8. Keams, Owen Sound.
Owen Lewls, Meaford,
Archie M, Neill, Owen Sound.
James McDonald Owen Sound.
J. H. Minorgan, Chatsworth.
Vivian Mny, Owen Sound.
Edward, Merry, Owen Sound.
Thomas Lyness, East Linton.
H Nelson, Owen Sound.
J. R. Potts, Owen Sound.
Albert Pennmgmn, Owen Sound.
Allan Rumsey, Owen Sound.
W. J. Raw, Meaford.
James Ryan, Rockford.
Jek Stroembicz, Owen Bound.
V. 8witt, Owen Sound.
Fred Smith, Eugenia.
Sidney Smlth Thornbury.
Samuel Towner. Owen Bound.
Osborne Tweedy, Markdale,
Leslie Todd, Owen Sound.
Albert E, White, Meaford.
R, P, Wells, Owen Sound.
Ohanas Vartanian, Owen Sound.
w. J. Willlams, Owen Sound.
James 8. Wilson, Hanover.
John 8. Wilson, Hanover,
Verral Irwin, Woodford.
Lemuel ngge. Little Current.
Harvey Matthews, Clarksburg.
A. Ward, Clarksburg.
Charles Earle, Clarksburg.
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